
















































































































































































FIGURE 1015 Looking »ast down Washington (Main) Street rom the Second Street intersection. ca 1940 Compare this view with that of Figure [1-14, and the only noticeable
changes in almost twenty years are the installation of electric poles and the construction of Township Hall (1939 The stormy appearance of this photograph recalls the great dust

storms which lashed the town in the “[drty "30s.” (Souwce: Black American West Moseum, Denver, Colorado)




sold his farm for $1000 and 5 lots in Bogue and then returned 2 months later
to reopen a livery stable in Nicodemus. '® But this was clearly the exception.
The others would never return. Fletcher and the others directed their newspa-
per advertising to the Bogue Signal until it, too, ceased publication in Novem-
ber 1890. With commerce dwindling, Nicodemus merchants found it difficult
to compete with retail outlets in Bogue and Hill City and eventually closed their
businesses.

(Nicodemus’) early glory is gone: the highways and
the rallroads all passed it by, and the stone of some
of its impartant bulldings has been hauled away.

Hill City, by comparison, continued to thrive throughout the 1890s. The
Union Pacific had crossed the Solomon River west of Nicodemus to allow for a
depot in Hill City, securing the town's place as the commercial and govern-
mental center for the county. In November 1888, as Nicodemus was agonizing
over its breakup, the population of Hill City had been boosted to almost 500.
By one report the bustling community had four newspapers, six general stores,
three drug stores, three banks, four hotels, three restaurants, ten real estate of-
fices, two bakeries, three livery stables, three hardware stores, three lumber
vards, five carpenter shops, two wagon shops, and several other active busi-
nesses, ' ' Town lots were -.w.llinifnr between $25 and $75, and business prop-
erties sold for $300 and $400. '“" Bogue, it seems, fared only marginally better
than MNicodemus. Not incorporated until 1910, the small railroad town had
been one of three in Graham County platted by the Union Land Company in
1888, and had never really gained the commercial momentum necessary for
prospenity.

After the economic disintegration in 1888, many black farmers who had
been living in Nicodermus began to return to their original homesteads in the
surrpunding township. Some had held both town lots and homesteaded lands
in the quarter sections nearby, and had moved into Nicodemus during the
prosperous times. When their more lucrative town jobs as retailers, laborers,
teamsters, or construction workers disappeared, they retumed to agriculture
for subsistence and income. Although the townsite and the surrounding com-
munity suffered a decline in population from the peak years, the population in
Nicodemus Township aprparenﬂy stabilized after 1890, and remained steadily
around 300 people until 1905."“! Successive crop failures in 1889 and 1890
forced a number of black farmers ol their farms, either voluntarly or through
foreclosure. As some of the land was bought by whites, the racial composition
of the township began to shift back away from all-black to a more integrated
balance.

Although the regional economic base had expanded considerably over
the preceding dozen years, the commercial climate in Nicodemus itself after
1838 quickly reverted to its pre-1879 state, with blacks running basic-service
businesses for an overwhelmingly black clientele. Even in its heyday,
Nicodemus had never been incorporated as a town. Conversely, at its nadir
after the exodus to Bogue, the townsite still remained the social and spiritual
center for the surrcunding black community. By 1890, the financial sector had
left and the commercial sector was drastically curtailed. The population of
Nicodemus Township dwindled from a little over 400 in 1888, to 317 in 1590;
the population of the townsite itself is thought to have declined even more dra-
matically. *#? Nicodemus continued to exist into the twentieth century, but in a
diminished function. By the tum of the century, the small community had set
tled into its sometimes uneasy role as small, poor agricultural village

After 1890, the developmental history of Nicodemus slowed dramati-
cally. The town never experienced its long-sought revival. Few new buildings
of note were erected, and as later businesses failed or people vacated their resi-
dences, many of the existing buildings were abandoned, allowed to deterio-
rate, and eventually were razed or moved. Farming improvements were made
only as the result of increased mechanization. Yet, the community, which had
always been based on a subsistence economy, continued to avert economic
insolvency. As original settlers moved or passed away, fewer people moved in
to replace them, and with each succeeding generation the population dwin-
dled. Norman Crockett in The Black Towns described the town's plight:

Indeed. “things"” had changed. From a population of approxi-
mately six hundred in 1877, Nicodemus, Kansas, dwindled to less
than two hundred by 1910, Poverty then settled aver the town, A
visitor here in 1918 found anly two businesses in existence, one a
restaurant with a “two-by-four counter. a box turned upside down
for a table, and the rest of the fixtures of the same type.” At the
time, most of Nicodemus® sixty residents lived in dilapidated
houses, few of which showed a sign of paint in recent years. The old
men of the town ritually gathered at the post office around three
o'clock every afterncon to talk over the happenings of the day
while waiting for the mail to arrive. In 1939, a researcher for the
Federal Writers' Project saw children playing in the dusty streets
before wooden or stone huts that contain anly the bare necessities
— often wooden chalrs and a table, a stove and an lron bed. One
tavern was all that remained of Nicodemus® once-proud business
community, only churches possessed electricity. and those
wishing to make a telephone call had to travel six miles to Bogue.
Mo stores remained In 1950, and three years later the government
withdrew Its post office there. The black haven on the Solomen
had become almost a ghost town.'#?
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The Wichita Beacon reported the forlom condition of the town in 1933

(Nicodemus | eatly glory is gone: the highways and the railroads all
passed it by, and the stone of some of lts important buildings has
been hauled away. lts streets now are grass-covered rats and there
Is only a lourth class post affice maintalned in a parlor of a home. 1t
in still the home of 300 descendants ol the lirst settlers who tll the
aoll and are happy in the homes that were lHterally hewed from the
earth by their fnthers "**

Ower the years the appearance of the townsite gradually changed as the
older buildings were razed or altered and new buildings were constructed
Wilson's and Green's buildings had escaped the flight 1o Bogue, as had the
First Baptist and AME Churches and the Saint Francis Hotel The Green
Building was made Into the Masonic Temple in 1893. The Masons, customary
second-floor dwellers, occupied the upper level, and a serles of marginal retail
ers occupied the space below. The Wilson Building was purchased in 1900 by
G. M. Sayers, who operated the town's only general store, and later gas sta
tion, lor decades to lollow. The Saint Francls Hotel was tumed into a private
resicence by heirs of Z. T, Fletcher, and subsequently recelved numerous ad
diions. The First Baptist Church eventually was left as the only active congre
gation in town; the bullding was greatly expanded by the addition of a side an
teroom and comer steephe after the tum of the centuny. Since then, the exterior
stone walls have been stuccoed and butresses added

Throughout Nicodemus' history, its residents made only a modest
aesthetic impact on the land. The town’s utilitarian, small-scaled bulldings re-
flect this conservative trend. Characteristically, very litthe was done to provide
landscape amenities for the booming commercial district during its heyday, be
vand construction of wood plank sidewalks In front of the store bulldings
{Even this was done on an individual basis by the store owners: the walks
tended to be placed piecemeal alongside the dirt thoroughfares ) Dint streets
extended to the front doors of many stores and houses that lined them. Most
remarkable, though, was the fact that citizens of Nicodemus had not planted

any substantial number of trees before the 19505 A small grove of colton
wood trees, planted by B. B. Scruggs, just outside of town, provided the only
natural break in an otherwise treeless horzon Contrany to almost universal
Midwestern tradition, the town was virtually treeless over its first 80 years of
OCCUupancy

Today, Nicodemus remains an unincorporated, rural agricultural village
Some of the streets have been paved, and electricity and phone service have
been extended to the townsite, The First Baptist Church has been replaced as
the congregation’s meeting house and receives only Intermittent use. The
Saint Francis Hotel is vacant most of the year. Both the Green and Wilson

58

buildings have been razed. Yet, by all rights, Nicodemus should have disap
peared after the economic collapse of 1888: most other Midwestern towns did
under similar circumstances. Settled by freedmen. the town soon lost its all
black distinction when white merchants joined blacks along the main street
But when the rallroads bypassed the town, the whites quickly moved out, and
it is through the perseverance of the black settlers and their descendants that
the town continues 1o survive

- " |

FIGURE 10-16: The Alexander Duvall house, ca. 1915, was pan of a typical local farm.
stead with bams, windmills, shed, comals, coops, granaries, and brooder houses, The
frame house. which replaced an earlier sod house on the same site. was abandoned
ca. 1915, (Photograph: Clayton Fraser)
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CHAPTER Ill

INTO THE
TWENTIETH CENTURY
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stocked with dry goods and small clothing items, was supported by the 200 vil-
lagers and 300 outlying farmers

Those residents who remained, however, promoted the town’s cultural
and social heritage. Literary activities increased, with clubs such as the Three K
Club, Priscilla Art Club, Masons, and the Eastern Star Women's Auxiliary. A
number of educated individuals would exchange printed material as it became
available, staging plays, recitations for the children, and book reviews.? The
Three K Club and Priscilla Art Club were similar in their directive: sponsoring
drives for the less privileged, visiting the sich, sewing, and quilting * The Ma.
sons sponsored a dance social each spring, catered by the Eastern Star, They
alsa sponsored drives for less fortunate families and scholarships for students.*
Most of the independent clubs were for adults; programs for children were
generally locally conducted through the school or church

Yet, getting to and from these events often proved difficult
Thunderstorms through spring and early summer converted the dusty streets

hdan Bizedliird

~
-

i“ﬂ:
FIGURE 111-2: The 1915 class at Falrview School, Nicodemus, Kansas. Each year the
single-room sd hool would typlcally feature one Class of youngsters, from grade school
to high school age. After 1945, all children in the Nicodemus area went (o the District
No. 1 School, and the Fairview School building was moved to the District No, 1
Schoaol site. for additional classroom space. (Photograph: Bemice Bates)
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to quagmires, impossible for wagons to pass. To reduce the drainage problem,
ditches were installed and graded periodically by the township board. Origi:
nally, these road graders were horse-driaswn by teams of lour to six horses
Only the main thoroughfares — Washington, Third Street from South Avenus
to Adams Street. Fourth Street from Washington to Madison Streets, and
Madison Street from Fourth to Seventh Streets — were graded in order to
travel along the commercial comidor to church and school

This was also true of the road system in the township. Narrow paths to
and from Nicodemus were as important as the town roads since the farm land
was still heavily populated in the 19208 Township residents relied heavily
upon these roads to go to school and church In Nicodemus and 1o travel to
nearby towns for supplies. Even the Nicodemus Cemetery, approximately one
mile north and one-hall mile east of Nicodemus (at the county line), was rela.
tvely difficult to reach belore section roads were built The direct paths
through deep grasses resulted in “roads all over the prairies” until county
roads or “‘section roads”’ delineated each square mile

. that our grandchildren can read about the history. And they
won't have, say, such a hard time wondering and liguring oul the
way we had (it) when we come along . . . becanse# a lot of our young
people around here now don't know nothing about the history
People never tell them any. Let them know about what happened

— Lloyd Wellington, Nicodemus resident, 1983

Despite the absence of a reliable transportation netwark and without no
table architectural fabric, Nicodemus continued 1o serve as the social-cultural
center of black life in the county. The annual Emancipation Celebration, per-
haps best embodied this community spint " For most of the town's history, the
celebration was held in Scruggs Grove, a small grove of cottonwoods, partially
planted by R. B. Scruggs, near the river. Gradually, the small grove became
recognized regionally.” (FIGURE 111-3) Most people lived nearby, so the
travel back and forth for the three-day event was not inconvenient. Over the
years, the celebration became a popular affair, drawing thousands of people
from nearby settlements. Wagons and automobiles would line Highway 24
north of Nicodemus, for three miles In each direction. ™ People would travel
from California and Colorado back to their home to see families and friends
Everyone, blacks and whites, locked forward to the picniec — 12 to 20 food
stands ol barbecue, lemonade, poke salad, Sadie Hall's and Alva DePrad's
fried chicken, Ora Switzer's ice cream sodas, and plenty of desserts — under
the mature trees.”

The celebration usually opened with a spirited Friday altemoosn political
rally and closed on a more tranguil note with a Sunday moming church cere:
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EMANCIPATIO
Day Celebration

NICODEMUS., KANSAS
JULY 31-AUGUST 1, 1939

AN EEU AL THE CRLFERATION WILL BE HELD 1N THE SCRIUGGS GROVE ONE MILE 80U THWEST
W TORA, 3 ,

MASTER OF CEREMONIES - ---. EARL ALEXANDER

- ————

ENTERTAINMENT

There will be Hor ¢ *hoe Pitching each day. A purse nill be gisen if vou enter, for frst and second place win-
ners. Al nishmg to enter, soe B H, Clark tor further information.

RAND MU i, Bl ity High School

BASEBALL GAMES

The teams that have entered: Hutrhlason

t olored Menarch, Nortan league, Bogue Three Matches Kach Duy
Wakeeney, Nieodemus (id Hickor ,
3 = BIGC DAYS - 3 Wt 'urdy and Jacrkson and others
JULY W11 and AUGUNT |
Fask. Uinasy Tsniore Bachi oo Members of the Golden Glove Contest.

PLATFORM DANCE EVERY AFTERNOON AND EVENING

FLOOR SHOW BY DIXIK WELODY ENTERTAINERS u
iMived teroup of Ten ( olored Dancers) WILL BE GIVEN AUGUST | AT 1 p. m.

.

)
{

; i

}

|

SIPEAKERS OF THE DAY AVGUST ) Jerry Driwesl), Russell: Fdward ). Kirchner, Topeka; Fx-Senator

Simon J. Fishman, Tribune,

U TN PR derre wrages Hes Seatrorafl PROGKAM (e B Reregrs BASEAALL CAMES dadoes Absamder [HANCE MANAGER,
AW Raie FRAYFR be by Bev M N Heowston

For Further Information, srite or see N B SCRULGGS or ). D WILSON,

FIGURE I11-3: A 1939 handbill advertising that year’s annual Emancipation Celebration. Held at the beginning

of August each year since the founding of the town, the celebration was, and still is, the biggest social event
the year in Nicodemus. It is the one occasion that brings friends and relatives back to Nicodemus each year

of
to

enjoy the festivities and, in so doing, rekindles the spirit of the town. (Source: Black American West Museum,

Denver, Colorado)




mony. Mary Elizabeth Alexander Gage remembered that the celebration was
*something we looked forward to from one year to the next. | think we wereas
anxious for the Emancipation Celebration atfair. . . as we were about Christ-
mas."""" Picnic tables, barbecue pits, and tents would be scattered over 160
acres of the total 720 acres of Seruggs’ property. In open areas on the south
side of the road, camival equipment, with their peculiar sounds and flashy
lights, would entice the children lor miles around and coax their parents to
leave home early, going to the celebration, Often the celebration provided par-
ents with an opportunity to persuade their children to tackle long overdue re-
sponsibilities. Gordon Williams recalled for example, “My father was farming
and he always made us milk cows and do all the other chores before we could
girt down there 1o get to the dance A

But there were also festivities for adults: horse races, dice boards, card
games, bingo, a band, and dance floor, As one past resident sald, "'Las Vegas
didn’'t have nothing on them,""'* By far the most popular and perhaps most
vividly imprintied memory was the baseball games. As Gordon Willlams re-
called late in life

“"We used to have some good baseball. One year they even had the
Monarchs to come outl and play. They all drove. . .. | think 1928
Fords down. . . They drove them out from Kansas City to play, to
put on a game. | don’t know whether we had a team big enough to
play; Nicodemus did have a baseball team, but it wasn’t no compae-
titlon to them. because they. . . were what they called the Kansas
City Monarchs and they were a good ball club.”""

Alvin Bates further remembered some of "'the great players like Satchell
Paige and all those, they use to play with the Monarchs. They use to come right
here in Nicodemus."** The Nicodemus Blues baseball team (FIGURE 111-4)
would play teams from Texas and Louisiana, as well as local teams from
Bogue, Norton, Hill City, Wakeeney, Stockton, and Damar.'® R B. Scruggs
provided the baseball diamond and stands on a portion of his homestead
During the 1920s, the Monarchs’ women's team, the Stepping Sisters, played
on a makeshift field next to the Masonic Lodge

The annual celebration at the grove was an experience for the entire fam
ily. Those families who lived a considerable distance awav would camp at the
grove.'® The children, especially, looked forward to the camival, memy-go-
round, ferris wheel, horse races, baseball games, and evening dances

Everyone, of course, eagerly anticipated the good home cooking Ora
Switzer, who enjoyed the spectacle as well as anyone, provided a detailed de-
scription of the copking

... wa'd have a lot of personal stands, they would come out and
serve whatever they'd chose to in their stands. Watermelon, fried
chicken, barbecue, or whatever. Some of them would boll ald hens

and have dumplings and all. | seen one man who put a big old cook
stove in there and just run a pipe oot off so i wouldn't run his face
on oul. He put stew stull on that stove and have cabbage
a'smelling. Now they would give you a good old dinner. They would
have combread and evervthing. It was too comical for words, Be-
cause there'd be 20 stands on the ground. | ran it for five, lour years
mysell. And managed it. And 1 let people come in, that's the way
you made your little money. You get a little somuthing off your
concession stand, maybe you would charge $25 for the 3 days, And
then let them go and they would make 1"’

Throughout the 1920s, the Emancipation Celebration remained the an-
nual highlight. Perhaps, the celebration became even more festive, as the
1920s were some of the best years for crop vield per acre Even today
MNicodemus farmers particularly remember the mid-twenties as excellent years
for cormn crops. The mid-twenties relieved most farmers and streéngthened their
economic position before the drought devastations of the early-thirties

FIGURE 111-4: The 1907 Nicodemus Blues baseball team. Probably the most excliing
and memorable activity associated with each year's Emancipation Celebration. base-
ball was popular with voung and old: there was even a women's team called the
Stepping Sisters. The Nicodemus Blues played teams from surounding commu.
nities, as well as teams from as far away as Texsas and Louisiana. (Photograph: Fred
and Ora Switeer)
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The stock market crash of 1929, however, brought America’s prosperity
to a sudden halt, affecting all strata of American society. Nicodemus was no ex-
ception. The Great Depression severely touched the American farmers who
traditionally relied heavily on the stability of the marketplace to recover their
previous year's planting debits. 1

Kansas farmers watched helplessly through the first years of the 1930s as
their crops were destroyed by a seemingly endless series of dust storms and
droughts. The longest consecutive and continuous drought in Graham County
occurred between 1932 and 1934, producing the most disastrous crop-raising
period in the history of the county. The lack of rail service, inadequate housing
and economic opportunity, and the high death rate among elderly in and
around Nicodemus, exacerbated the situation, forcing more farmers into fore-
closure and to abandon their farmsteads for California and the Pacific North-
west. Previously titled land became unoccupied or fallow for a great portion of
the 1930s, since those remaining had little extra means 1o reinvest or they were
uncertain of their own survival. As a consequence, substantial black landhold-
ings transferred to lending institutions, reducing the descendents of the ariginal
homesteaders to tenant-farmer status. **

Long-time Nicodemus residents tell tragic stories of survival and disap
pointment during the early-thirties. Although these descriptions parallel the
commentaries of farmers throughout the Midwest, the recollections provide a
colorful glimpse of life in Nicodemus during the Great Depression. Alvin Bates,
long-time resident and village mechanic, farmed north of Nicodemus in the
1930s and recalled,

"I remember all of the bad years. During the dirty thirties, we

couldn't raise nothing. It wasn’t the fact that we didn’t get any rain,
it was . .. the dust, . """

His sister-in-law, Bernice Bates (FIGURE I1-5), elaborated further on
the ellect of the storms:
. some left and some stayed. But you didn't raise anything. |

know we lost all the stock that we had, horses and cows because
there wasn't anything for them 1o eat. We couldn't raise

anything.“*'

The cracked and parched ground would support neither crops nor live-
stock. Nearly all the livestock in Nicodemus perished. Nicodemus residents
also suffered. All property — homes, pastures, fence lines, etc. — was marred
with a thick layer of fine black dirt. (Many sufferers were wrapped with blankets
and restricted to their home in order to keep them from literally choking to
death.) Alvin's wife, Ada Bates, recalled her desperate attempt to protect their
baby daughter from the dust:

"I rernember well the Hrst dust storm that | seen. It was all black in
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the northwast. Billie over here was a little baby. And we had to
cover her up with a wet sheet in her bed to keep her from choking to
death. The dust was that thick in the house. (M course, we didn't
have nothing but lamps in them days. You'd have to light the lamps
right in the daytime because it was so dark, "

Despite all attempts, dust inevitably infiltrated houses. Occasionally, this
substance mixed with oil and would stick to walls, fumiture, and clothes.
Lamps and lights were kept burning day and night since the unexpected storm
would blacken the sky for days. Juanita Williams Redd “had to hang sheets,
you know, dampen 'em and hang "em up to keep the dust from coming in so
bad. When you would lay on a pillow, whg you could just see where our heads
were because the rest of it was just dirt.”

e —————————————————
| remember all of the bad year. During the dirty thirties,
we couldn’t raise nothing.
e ———————

Even early wamings could not prevent the storm from inflicting some
damage if it lingered for more than several hours. Bemice Bates recalls how a
particular storm hindered her from attending her club’s social:

"l was getting ready to go to a Priscilla Art Club social and we al-
ways wore white when we went and had our socials. | was standing
on the side of the table pressing my white dress that | was going to
wear and my husband was sitting on the other side of the table.
And I looked out the west window and I saw this big black cloud
coming. It was just as hlack as this (referring to an object on the ta-
ble). | said, “Harry, come quick and look at this cloud.” Refore he
could get around the ironing board, | had to lay the ironing board
on the table, | don't know what | had, a washboard stuck in a chair,
but by the time he got around that chair, the dirt had hit our place,
And it blew out a window in the bedroom and we had to run in there
and we nailed a comforter over the window and pushed a dresser
up against the window to hold it. And that dirt that way blew all
night long. It must have had oil in it "cause it stuck to the walls.
And, then, it just continued for, let's see. we had dust storms. not
that black dirt continued that long. but old lashioned dust storms
for, | imagine, two or three years "4

In 1934, Nicodemus residents began a gradual recovery and methodical
clean-up campaign. Slowly over the years, homes were cleaned, fences re-
built, and cattle restocked. One resident said later, 'l #on't know how we. we
just existed somehow. The Lord took care of us,"*”

To assist in the nation’s recovery, the Federal Government initiated sev-
eral recovery programs, including the Federal Land Bank, to assist farmers on
the brink of dispossession.?® On July 1, 1934, Graham County contributed to



FIGURE I11-5: Mrs. Bernice Bates, long-time Nicodemus resident. holding family photographs on her porch in 1983. Mrs. Bates
— passed away in 1984, (Photograph: La Barbara Fly)



the national recovery on the local level by establishing a Farm Bureau to im
miediately assist farmers and ranchers ¥ By 1936, residents of Nicodemus had
designated 5. D. Desbien as thelr representative to the Farm Bureau. lroni-
cally, the common misery of the Depression. in some ways. helped to
strengthen unity among Nicodemus farmers and residents. In order to mini
mize the struggle of future disasters, remaining farmers, both black and white,
olten shared equipment and manpower **

Unfortunately, only a fow onginal black homesteaders, such as Bates and
Williams. remained owners and occupants of their farms. Most farmers be
came tenants and rented land < A few farmers, such as the Alexander and

JanDuvall families, leased their farm land to oil companies ™

During the worst years of the Great Depression, the population of
Nicodemus dropped to about 40 people. Many of these were employed
through Works Progress Administration (WPA) programs. For example, a
team of approximately 12 men. with limited building experence. was hired to
build the WPA Nicodermus Township Hall, (Figures II1-6 & 7) Rock was
quarried near the presant Webster Reservoir in Rooks County and transported
tos this vacant site, where Nicodemus residents watched Garold Napue cut the
stone blocks and pattern them with a mallet ** Gilbert Alexander, project man
ager and timekeeper, supervised the two-year project

e

FIGURE 111-6 & 7: Dedicated in 1939, Nicodemus Township Hall is shown under con-
struc tion in these historic photographs. A team of 12 black and white local residents
undertook this WPA project using locally quarried stone 11 s the largest structure in
town today. (Fhotographs: Angela Bates)




While the bullding was under construction, residents used the largest
structure available on the townsite for weekly dances — the Masonic Hall An
addition 1o the rear made it convenient to have dances and other social func
ions, such as an ice cream parlor, on the first floor. When the WPA building
was completed and dedicated in 1939, community meetings. dances, and
elections were held in the larger structure ™ The existence of this structure. on
the comer of Second and Washington Streets, created the impetus for a town
canter, since it sat in the same block with the Masonic Hall, newly-established
Priscilla Art Club’s “Cracker Box"" School building, and several restaurants
[$uch as Helena's, and the Green Lantern Cale in the old Saint Francis Hotel)

Most young men and women decided not to return to Nicodemus after
Warld War [I As a result, small farm settlements such as Falrview could no
longer support their schools. In 1945, Fairview School, District No. 78, was
closed and the structure was moved to the District No. 1 site. north of the
Nicodemus School. Nicodemus residents, on the other hand. still generated
maore than enough students for District No. 1 réquiring addittonal space for the
averflow

Many teenagers hired out in the summer to area farmers to help suppon
their families or obtain enough money to attend college. Others helped their
parents with harvest, fall ground preparation, and/or livestock chores. Leam
ing lrom the lean years of the thirties. farmers selected more drought-resistant
plant vareties; most began substituting wheat, milo, barley, and rve for com
Most black farmers continued to rely on dry-land farming techniques, unable
to allord an elaborate, mechanized Irigation system for their tracts White
farmers, on the other hand, began investing in various imigation schemes

Many families supplemented their diets with garden vegetables, native
plants, and herbs found in and around Nicodemus. Some residents brought
seeds from Kentucky, including lady peas, spring peas. blackeve przas
drowder peas, and sunflower peas. Native vegetables included wild lettuce
(poke salad), tomatoes, dandelions, and narrow duck. The wild tomatoes
were o favorite of Ora Wellington Switzer who remembered

They make the prettiest little old greens, and you know | saw ane
bunch this spring and that wild tomato after it got so old why
I°H got little balls that come on top, kind of like a tomato. It sctu-
ally tasted like a tomato. But it sure does season up the qreens
m ia

Ihe majority of the “greens’” were found on the 1olling praire outside
Nicodemus. Poke salad, on the other hand, grew wild al ng the river banks
“"We would have to go to the creek to find the poke salad reported Ora
Switzer. "It grows in a square and vou got to be sure and find the right thing
Then you cut it off.'
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FIGURE 1I1-8: Nicodemus town resident Mrs. Juanita Hedd, standing in front of the
Heary Williams house, photographed in 1953, Mrs. Redd, who was 74 af the thme. was
falsed in this howse. Her father, Henry Willlams. was the list black baty borm in
Nicodemus (in 1878) iPhotograph- Richard McNamars)

In addition to vegetables, a surprising variety of culinary and medicinal
herbs flourished near Nicodemus, including fever weed, horehound, wild
sage, gourd tea, and snakeroot. Snakeroot, a bitter-tasting root taken orally for
metlicinal purposes, "'was awlul bad down in these pastures and the people
dug that stulf and made money.” relayed Ora Switzer late in her life *“They'd
dry the root and then you'd go to town and you'd get 25 to 30 cents a pound
for it. And when they was broke they would get out here and try to dig it and
then take it and dry and go over and sell it to the man ™"

Finally, wild berries, currants. and plums were harvested seasonally
Some residents planted rows of apple, peach. and pear trees. Many harvested
wild fruits and berries in and around the town. Ora Switzer recalled *‘we use io
have chokechemes down here on the river We'd have 1o hunt for them
currants, they grow wild. And then we get wild plums down there on the river
And | make a jelly out of things like that you know. And vou make a butter
from the plum because they are big enough (that) after vou get vour jelly o
badl up, you can run it through a colander
YOur jam

After a long period of drought and parched land in the thirties, 1951 and
1953 were years of terible flooding Many residents considered the 1951

pour your juice off and make



flood as the worst floed the county had experienced. and in 1956, Webster
Reservoir and Dam were bullt to reduce possible lood devastation. Ponds and
terraces were also created to hold water in the fields rather than allowing it to
run off as in the past
To augment the agncultural leaming experience and broaden the respon

sibility of young teens. Blanche White founded and sponsored the 4H Club in
Nicodemus around 1940. Mrs. White's love for children found a natural and
creative outlet in the activities of the club. Beginning at age 50, she devoted her
time to teaching the members of the club — male and female — how 1o raise
and care for animals, ralse crops, garden, prepare meals, and beautity their
townsite. In the 1940s, the beautification movement became the responsibility
of the 4H Club, Mrs, White secured the trees from the county extension service
agent and instructed the children in their planting and nurturing. Exposure to
summer camps, county fairs, exhibitions/'competitions, and other culfural
avents experienced by “urban” children, would often require that she get a
truck from a nelghbor and drive the members (ranging from 10 years old to 20
years old) 1o Wakeeny, Hill City, Salina, Downs, and Cawker City, ™

.ft :?‘I“_.,_

FIGURE 111-9: Washington Street In Nicodemus, looking east in the 1940s, Thaugh
the Depression and dust storms of the 1930s are over, this view of the 1own causes
one 1o guestion the town's recovery. From left to right. these structures are: the Ma-
sontc Hall, Jenny Riley's Restaurant, the Priscilla Art Club, and Township Hall. (Pho-
tograph: Black American West Museum, Denver. Colorado)

Most children looked forward 1o joining the 4H Club, not only lor its out
door activities, but because it symbolized the transition from child to adult
Veryl Switzer, for example, recalled “'from the time | was 8§ or 9 years old | al
ways wanted to be in the 4H because all my older brothers and sisters were in
and there were some things that just inspired me . . . Then [ think, after a vear
ar two | was able 1o become a full-fledged member, 4H member, | lhl_rlﬂl'. that
4H though staved with me until | was about 17 years of age, or 18"

While teenagers flocked to the 4H. adulis socialized In the network of tav
ems and restaurants, By the 1950s, beer was served in some of the eating es
tablishments, An owner of such a business either occupied an existing house
moved a one-story frame unit to a site he owned and renovated it, or com
bined several structures in order to enlarge his enterprise. "The Joint™" o
“Blamm,” Green Lantern Cafe (family style), Helena's, DePriest Tavern, and
Blow-In Cale provided thelr customers with entrees, beer, snacks, and excep
tional desserts.™ These restaurants not only catered to residents bul also ca
tered to area farmers. As they had developed belore, all the restaurants existed
within a one-block area from the Township Hall, on Washington Street and
east of Third Street. This reinforced the town center concept, which began
with the construction of the Township Hall in 1939, Further development and
delineation of this district occumred In 1952, when the American Legion pur
chased the Fairview School bullding, located north of Nicodemus School, and
had Deak King move it diagonally across from the Township Hall™ (The
American Legion purchased the buillding, since the shrinking District Ne. 1 did
not have use for it any longer. ) By 1953, the building had been renovated for
use as an Amencan Legion Hall, and became a secondany dance hall’'club
space when the deterorating Masonic Hall was not operable

I'he relocation was particularly effective in stimulating communinyg interac
tion at that end of Nicodemus; it generated néw interest in the annual Emanci
pation Celebration. For more than 50 vears, the celebration had been held In
Scrugas Grove, despite the growing chorus ol protests lrom carnival
companies, Most carnival companies had for years complained of the incon
veniences attendant to setting up their equipment amidst the trees. Finally, in
1950, the threat to discontinue service to Nicodemus was heeded ™ Ulti
mately, three American Legion board members agreed to relocate the celebra
tion on the lownsite, The camival rides were assembled just east of the Town
ship Hall, across from the Legion Hall. The American Leglon parade route was
along Washington Street to the Township Hall, According to Gordon Williams
an American Legionnaire, the celebration in 1953 “was one of the largest ones
they' ver ever had (since) they never had a camival up in town belooe then
Like all other celebrations held before in the grove, there were hundreds of
participants and spectators attending

75




Around the time that the celebration transferred to the townsite,
Nicodemus received overhead electric service from the US. Department of
Agriculture, Rural Electrification Administration (REA) (By 1958, only a few
families had secured the service ) Prior to the electric service, residents had
used ofl lamps in thelr homes, and for the celebration, Alvin Batis had ingen
lously engineered electric lights, hookdng them up to a small engine which
puffed and smoked ** He could supply encugh electricity for the bandstand
and for a four-block area around the grove (This electric supply was utilized
primarily by the camival companies, | Despite the lusury of Eghting for the cele-
bration, Nicodemians managed thelr community and family affairs without
street lights, telephone service, or utility service

L

FIGURE 1110 Disinict No. | School, Nicodemus, Kansas, photographed in 19343,
This one-story, wood sided sirocture with a hipped rool was built in 1915, on
the same site of the orginal school, a ca. 1887 structure that burned. District
Mo, | School closed in 1955 and Nicodemus children bave commuted 1o Bogue,
Hansas ever since. ln 1983, the Amevican Legion purchased this building for
mertings and gatherings Nicodemus was the first community 1o establish &
school in Graham County, a demonstration that education was importan (o the
black community from the outset, (Photograph: Willlam T, Belleas, 1943, Sowroe:
Fort Hays State College, Fort Hays, Kansas)
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Although public improvements were slow amiving to rural westem
Kansas. and particularly to Nicodemus, some other services generally taken
lor granted began o disappear during this period. Nicodemus lost its post of
lice on November 30, 1953, after President Dwight Eisenhower closed thou
sands of rural post ollices in an effort to consolidate and streamline the LS
Postal Service. ™ Reverend Joe Wilson, who had been assessor, justice of
peace, and postraster for the past seven years, conducted the only business in
Nicodemus in his home. ™ When the post office dlosed, Reverend Wilson be
gan selling candy 10 the children on the townsite from his one story residence
{This structure was a four-room frame unit with & gable roof ) As the seventh
postmaster in the village since 1878, and pastor of the A ME. Chureh, he was
ane of the guiding forces in the community’s development

Throughout the late- 1940s and much of the earky-1950s, Micodemus was
considered the “center’” of black affairs for Graham County. This attitude pre
valled more dunng this penod than any prior decade in the hwentieth cen
tury. ** Activities on the townsite partially generated redistribution of families in
addition to the shrinking of the Fairview settlement. People began o use the
tewnsite for various social activities, thus, existing structures were recycled and
occupled. Unfortunately, residents had had very litthe income 1o maintain
structures or town lots. Some efforts are worth noting: In 1949, both the First
Baptist Church and the Saint Francis Hotel were stuccoed to privent further
deterioration of their limestone facades ™ Some of the elderly relocated to the
townsite for security. Many of these people had lived in the township most of
thelr lives but felt more comifortable living in the village nearer 1o others thelr
age. After high school, outmigration among young people was prevalent By
thee close of the period, there were only 12 families resicing on the townsite,
few with children attending Nicodemus School Based upon the reduction of
diemand, District No. | Schoaol was closed civea 1960, (FIGURE 111-10)

1960-1974 GRADUAL DECLINE

The black population in Nicodemus continued o didline throughout the
1960s. Only 12 children attended grade school in Hill City and high school in
Bogue. Most young adults had moved away, while the elderly who remained
in the community either rented, sold, or bequeathed thelr land, to reduce the
burden. Eventually, the elderly migrated to the townsite Residents who sur
vived on Soclal Security had virtually no means of maintaining their homes,
thus, residential structures on the townsite detenorated ™ As others died, prop
ey was left unattended, creating a number of empty, decaying frame struc
tures scattered throughout the wownship

Washington Street seemed abandoned, there were more vacant lots now
than structures, Most of the remaining bulldings, such as Sayers Store and the



Masonic Hall, in the once-prosperous business district were vacant and stood
like monuments to the earlier black colonists wha had bullt them. Only a few of
the historic structures (Nicodemus Township Hall, Saint Francls Hotel. First
Baptist Church and parsonage, and Stewart'Gains house) along Washington
Street were occupied or in livable condition. Although a few residences were
moved on the townsite (for example, residences owned by Robert and Bertha
Caner, Lloyd Wellington, Guy and Juanita Redd, and hvalee and Freddie
Switzer), and a lew others were expanded (lor example, the Terry family's res

idence. and Clarence and Yvonne Sayers’ residence), there was relatively little
activity. The population reduction forced many literary, sodal, and cultural
clubs (such as the Masons, Eastern Star, and American Legion) to inactivity

There just were not enough people to support many o the ongoing civic proj

ects and activithes

As the population diminished, physical deterioration ol historic bulldings
also oceurred. The only business 1o open during this period was Nevins Res
taurant in 1968 The owner, Ametta Nevins, purchased and moved the post
office building approximately one block north In 1967 She renovated the
one-story frame bullding by covering the existing walls with asbestos siding
and reroofing with asphalt shingles 10 open a gas station/cale. (Ms. Nevins va
cated the structure in 1973 when demand from tourists and truckers on their
way o Colorado diminished. )

The emigration lorced Nicodemus to evaluate its luture. The large contin
gent of past residents who had moved 1o California and the Pacific Narthwest
were still interested in maintaining ties with Nicodemus. In 1977, these con
cemned Individuals agreed to Invest in Nicodemus’ future by creating an incor-
porated body, Nicodemus West, Inc The corparation, inchading Orlo and
Verdell VanDuvall and Andre Clark, was lormed to assist in business educa
tion, provide scholarships and personal loans, and linance improvement pro
wcts for their homeplace " Although these families left Nicodemus for better
opportunities elsewhete, they did not wish to relinquish or jeopardize the con
cept of community they had discovered in Nicodemus. This revitalization effort
helped to make Nicodemus unique when comparid to other black settlements
establishied between 1865 and 1920, Most black settlernents of this period
gither disappeared (for example Allensworth, Calllormnia) or were comnsoll
dated within expanding urban areas. Nicodemus, on the other hand, main
tained s historic identity. in parl by reaching beyond Kansas to former
Micodemus residents for financial assistance

California residents were not the only ones who refused to sever ties with
Nicodemus. Past residents of Nicodemus all around the country refurmed to
Kansas annually 1o visit family and Inends in nearby communities. As it be
came increasingly difficult to make several trips home and as the Emancipation

Celebration became a vehicle by which 1o get together, the title and scope of
the three-day affair was altered to reflect the change. The Emancipation Cele
bration was renamed Homecoming and scheduled on the last weekend of
July, or the first weekend of August, 1o allow more families to take off from
their jobs and retumn 1o Nicodemus ' By the mid-1970s. families were
planning their vacations around Homecoming and inviting their fnends in re
spective states 1o join them for the weekend In Nicodemus (FIGURE 111-11)

FIGURE 111:11: Emancipation Celebration {also known as Homecoming by many lo-
cal residents) parade, photographed in 1983, The annual site of the celebration was
moved in 1950, from Scruggs Grove along the Solamon Hiver, to the town ltsell. The
parade thus becams one of the many lestivities assoclated with the celebration, and
residents and visitors alike participate. (Photograph: Everett Fly)

With the nabon's Bicentennial approaching, residents of Nicodemus felt a
paramount need 1o document the heritage of Nicodemus and its significance
and bring that history to the attention ol more Americans. Lioyd Wellington
for example, advocated compiling a written and visual record of the town so

that our grandchildren can read about the history. And they won't have, say,
such a hard time wondering and figuring out the way we had (it) when we
come along
know nothing about the history, People never tell them any. 5o | think it &

because a lot of our young people around here now don't
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good If they'll tell everybody the history. Let them know about what hap
pened " These small but enthusiastic efforts continue today

1975-1983 RESETTLEMENT AND RENEWAL

Throughout the years between 1975 and 1983, Nicodernus residents
made concerted attempts to rehabilitate historic structures in town and within
the nearby township. During these vears, several houses located outside of
Nicodemus, for example, homes owned by Ola Wilson, Rose Stokes, the
Napue family, and Virgil Robinson, Jr., were relocated to town Fortunately,
these structures required only minor repairs. The typical residences were one
and-one-hall-story frame units, covered with horzontal wood or asbestos sid-
ing, and had either a simple gable or hip roof covered with asphalt shingles. In
addition, a steady flow of trailers arrived In town, owned by the Brogdens,
Switzers (Harold and Venyl). and Sayers. The trallers reflected the desire by
sorme natives to retumn for extended periods o Nicodemus

In 1975, Reverend L. C. Alexander embarked upon the first significant
step towards the construction of a new First Baptist Church sanctuany. just
north of the existing church. ' The new structure would exist on the same site
as the earller 1 880s dugouts and sod houses. Under the direction of the pastor
volunteers — past and present Nicodemus residents — executed all construc
tion work excapt the brick veneer finish, which was done by a cantractor from
Wichita, Kansas ™ The building was dedicated the following September 28,
1975, Upon completion. the 1907 stone structure was converted into a Fel
lovaship Hall and still serves the community t sclivy

Despite the villagers” desire to preserve the significant structures, time was
not-always on thieir side: by 1972, the Masonic FHall was torm down and a
marker, compiled of parapet elements of the building, was set into a concrete
slab and erected ™ In 1980, Sayers Store was also razed and removed for pub
lic salety. The stone building had remained unoccupied and deterion ating for
several years prior to demalition. (The stone remnants were piled near the
ruins of the Stewart Goins house on the townsite for future use )

Given the rapid physical detenoration, loss of human resources. and the
need lor assistance to help preserve that which remained, a historic district
namination was prepared for the National Register of Historie Places by the
Afro-American Bicentennial Corporation. in 1974 Nicodemus was desig
nated and approved as a National Historic Landmark in 1976 This designa
tion provided urgency and priority to the village's request for assistance |t also
conveyed the town's survival should be a natlonal concern

The Natonal Historic Landmark designation may have heélped 10 per
suade the US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) 1o
award a long-awalted elderly and low income hi sing prolect in Nicodemus
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The idea was onginally conceived in Ora Switzer's home in December 1969

by six young men, all natives of Nicodemus ™" From 1970 to 1975, Lois
Alexander, the Township Board, and several key citizens struggled to secure
new, inexpensive housing for the elderly, and funds for rehabilitating homes
ownéd by Nicodemus residents. * Their efforts were rewarded in 1975, when
HUD approved the $250,000 Tumkey Housing Project. By 1976, five duplex
units were built west of the First Baptist Church, at the comer of Washington
and Fourth Streets, (FIGURE 11-12) Belore the end of the vear, thiey were
occupied. Since the HUD process was delaved, and appropriated HUD funds
would not cover the intended scope of the project. community development
funds were then secured to complete the community center — hall kitchen
and small office — on the southeast comer of the site, and Initiate limited street
pavement in 1976.™ A township fire station to the wiest of the project was built
in 1978, when the streets adjacent to the housing proiect were resurfaced. As
families prepared to move into the HUD housing, or the “Villa. " as local resi

dents call it. others were preoccupied with rehabilitating thitr homes. Resi

dences and other struetures on the townsite underwent extensive wealthier

) oy
i il o

-l | i
FIGURE 111-12: Mrs. Clementine Vaughn. in front of her “Villa™ duplex. photographed
in 1953 In 1976, a HUD housing complex consisting of live duples units, was built st
the comer ol Washingion and Fourth Suests. Referred 10 by local residents as the
Villa.” this housing comples for the elderly also leatures o communily cenler,
(Photograph: LaBarbara Fly)



proofing, electrical and plumbing improvements, and facade restoration. By
1976, each house also had a well or cistern.

The addition of substantial housing helped to generate the return of
former residents — retirees and the elderly — who wished to spend their final
days in their homeplace. Lloyd Wellington, a former Nicodemus resident, de-
cided to retum in order to avoid the “hustle and bustle” of California * The in-
crease of population in the mid-1970s and an initial demand for commodity
services, also drew Emestine VanDuvall back to Nicodemus in 1974 to estab-
lish the first and only business on the townsite in ten years, Emestine's Bar-B-
Que.% The structure consists of a conglomerate of frame (board ard batten),
concrete block, and asphalt shingle.

By 1978, the population had increased to 100 residents. The increase of
traffic on dirt roads and the necessity to entice others to return, resulted in the
establishment of a Community Development Board, comprised of the Hous-
ing Authority executive director and the Township Board members ' They se-
cured HUD funds to pave the remaining streets in the townsite; since there had
been only defacto zoning and structures had been built in the publc right-of-
way, street alignments had to conform to the existing condition.** Telephone
and electrical wiring were buried and curbs and gutters were installed when
streets were paved,

Most residents viewed these changes with a mixture of nostalgia and a
feeling of optimism. "It really gives me a good feeling to know that these things
are happening in Nicodemus," reported Mary Elizabeth Alexander Gage.
“Because | still think of this as home, although | was born and raised out on the
farm, this is where | socialized and, of course, my brother and sister-in-law still
live here. So this is where my roots are,"®*

The demand for a more reliable water source and system was generated
in the late-1970s. According to the 1980 census, taken by Yvonne Sayers,
there were more than 27 families on the town site and an 11 additional families
residing in the township. An Economic Development Administration grant al-
lowed Nicodemus to install a 100-foot-tall water tower on Block 20, and a
water systemn, which was used by the “Villa” and 7 families in town.**

The increase of residents also generated a demand for local recreation.
Washington Street developed into the chief recreational zone. With the Town-
ship Hall anchoring the east end of the block, a playground was built on the
site occupied earlier by the Masonic Hall. A combination basketball'tennis
court and practice court was latar built in the middle of the same block.5® The
remodelled Priscilla Art Club's party room completes the village facilities which
are frequently used for wedding receptions, club parties, special picnics, har-
vest celebrations, and Homecoming activities. Behind these facilities, is a pub-
lic park and travel rest area. This designated open space is used by the resi-

dents of Nicodemus for private and community picnics and by travelers as an
overnight rest stop. Large trees shade the area and provide a backdrop for the
historic landmark marker.

This is where my roots are.

Other land tracts in and nearby Nicodemus were transferred to farmers
who were sometimes unaware or simply unwilling to preserve the historic
properties. For instance, by 1975, Scruggs Grove had been sold to a new
owner, who cleared the entire tract of cottonwood trees and planted an alialfa
field in its place.%

Despite all the improvements made in the area and the anticipation of
people planning to return permanently, Nicodemus helplessly watched the
steady deterioration of the Stewart/Goins house, on the west end of the
townsite. %7 It was one of the few early stone structures still remaining on the
townsite as an example of vernacular residential architecture of that seriod.
During the winter of 1982, the stone structure was severely damaged end be-
came a ruin by spring of 1983,

More structured soclal interaction has been restored through the resur-
gence of church activities. Since Reverend Helm, pastor of the First Baptist
Church, became a resident in the townsite in July 1983, weekly Bible Training
Union meetings, church meetings and conferences, choir rehearsal, and usher
and elder board meetings have resumed with great regularity and dilgence.
Seniors utilize thelr five-day-a-week lunch program at the "'Villa” community
center to transfer community news and upcoming events. Young residents as-
sist in organizing the lunch program, taking the elderly on errands to the doctor
or store in the village's newly-acquired bus/van, and maintaining the town
park and playground. Varlous special committee meetings (such as Home-
coming and Historic Preservation) and the volunteer fire department drills of-
fer civic involvement and companianship.

Although only 58 residents still reside In Nicodemus, to maost the town re-
mains a place to which to return — to retire. The community retains its historic
agricultural character, vast skies, and expansive views. Small frame houses,
painted an assortment of colors, line Washington and Second Streets. During
the day, residents are preoccupied with farming responsibilities as the weather
permits or visiting a neighbor for lunch at the “Villa" community center. Most
important, a strang feeling of community still permeates the town. A feeling
cultivated and fueled by more than one hundred years of perseverarce and
unwillingness to give way.

Nicodemus is still an unincorporated town in the Nicodemus Township,
but the course of its history and the issues it faces for the future are not different
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from the issues ol incorpomted towns. [tis very much ke Middle-Amenican ru-
ral villages, but it is also unique as a nineteenth-cantury black settlement Very
few villages or towns can boast of the endurance and accomplishment exhib-
ited by Nicodemus "™ Whether two families or two hundred families reside
thieret for years lo come |s not vital, and in fact. inconsequential, to Nicodemus'
survival, For Nicodemians and many other residents in black settlements,
Nicodemus s a reality because it is in the minds and hearts of those who have
ever lived there. There will always be a dream for Nicodemus, just as s forefa.
thers had envisioned This collective dedication to the dream will allow
Nicodemus 1o transcend the realities of tomomrow because Nicodemus has be-
come what it Is and will endure over time based upon its residents’” commit

ment fo the concept of “'community,”

FIGUHRE 11113 The American Methodist Episcopal (A M E.) Church was organized in
Nicodemus as varly as 1879 However, the congregation, which had previously been
housed In a structure notih of the school, did not move Into this 1885 structure until
1910, (PFhotograph: Clayton Fraser)
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FOOTNOTES books, albums, and sheet music.

'The Standard Atlas of Graham County (1906) (occupants of Nicodemus
and Nicodemus Township), included the following people and their
occupations:

General Merchandise
G. M. Sayers

Farmer
Blackman, Henry Section (S) 28 Township (T) 7 Range (R) 21
Grant, John (retired) S11T7R21
Lored, J. W. S3T8R21
Robinson, Lissie S24T7R21
Smith, B. B. S21T7R21
Welton, M. S21T7R21
Williams, Emma E. S22T7R21

Farmer and Stockraiser
Alexander, Andrew S23T7R21
Bates, J. P. S4T8R21
Cannon, David S24T7R21
Coleman, W. C. S26T7R21
DePrad, J. A. S27T7R21
Fletcher, T. J. S15T7R21
Girley, Richard S24T7R21
Red, Lewis (sic) S26T7R21
Sissal, William S27T7R21
Weaver, J. A, S22TTR21

*Interview with Mary Elizabeth Alexander Gage, by La Barbara Fly,
Nicodemus, Kansas, 5 August 1983, p. 3.

*Ibid., p. 17

®Interview with Alvin Bates, by La Barbara Fly, Nicodemus, Kansas, 13 July
1983, pp. 32-33. The old Stockton Trail, three miles north of Nicodemus
and due east of Stockton, was an early stage route which became known
as the White Way, a white chalky road surface. In 1937, it was black-
topped and changed to Highway 24, or North 40, until circa 1964, when
Highway 24 was relocated three miles south, on the north edge of
Nicodemus. (The relocation provided better accessibility for residents in
Nicodemus.) Another county road was built ten miles south of the
townsite, known as the Red Line or South 40. It was considered the route
to Ellis. West of Nicodemus, Highway 18 intersects Old Highway 24, or
North 40. This junction is identified by two physical elements: abeacon or
radio tower and the “Big Curve,” or *'Balance Curve,” named hecause of
the radius of the road. Supposedly, cars could go fast around the curve
and remain upright, whereas, with a 90 degree corner, it was impossible to
travel at such speeds. Interview with Bemice Bates, Nicodemus, Kansas, 7
July 1983, pp. 24-25; interview with Bemice Bates and Alin Bates,
Nicodemus, Kansas, 29 June 1983, p. 20 (7a), pp. 1-2 (7b).

®Nicodemus (Kansas) Westem Cyclone, 8 July 1886. According to this
newspaper report, the original Emancipation Celebration commemorated
the emancipation of the West Indies from slavery.

7 Interview with Bernice Bates, 13 July 1983, p. 5.

HInterview with Alvin Bates, B 5

Negro occupants “Interview with Orlo VanDuvall, by La Barbara Fly, Nicodemus, Kansas, 30
July 1983 n. 8,
J. 5. Napue L : ‘
R. B. Napue Interview with Mary Gage, p. 5.

" Interview with Gordon Frederick Williams, by La Barbara Fly, Nicodemus,
Kansas, 2 August 1983, p. 3.

Mr. and Mrs. James C. Atkinson
Mr. and Mrs. John Jackson

J. C. B. Lewis ¥ Interview with Orlo VanDuvall, p. 9.

Wilkam Dabney Interview with Gordon Williams, p. 4.

James P. and Annie B. Bates *Interview with Alvin Bates, p. 5.

John W. Lored "® Interview with John W. Vaughn, by La Barbara Fly, Nicodemus, Kansas,
T. S. Bonty 30 July 1983, p. 12.

Carrie Dabney *Interview with Orlo VanDuvall, p. 12.

Perry Bates lnterview with Ora Wellington Switzer, by La Barbara Fly, Nicodemus,
J. A Weaver Kansas, 23 July 1983, p. 12,

#A few abandoned houses — the VanDuvall, Calvin Sayers, and Vaughn

B William L. Katz, Eyewitness: The Negro in American History (New Yark:
homes — in the township and on the townsite had libraries filled with

Pitrman Publishing Corporation, 1967).

Bl




1t should be understood that Negro landowners were not the only ones af-
fected by the dust storms and drought of the thirties. Farmers across the
Midwest, particularly Kansas and Oklahoma, were devastated, leaving
their farms for other sources of employment. Most of them did not retum
to farming as their principal employment, but migrated to urban centers for
steady revenues,

2 Interview with Alvin Bates, p. 18.

“nterview with Bernice Bates, p. 14.

# Interview with Alvin Bates, p. 18.

“nterview with Juanita Williams Redd, Nicodemus, Kansas, p. 15.

24 Interview with Bernice Bates, p. 14.

“Ibid., p. 15,

26\Jan B. Shaw, "Nicodemus, Kansas, A Study in Isolation” (Masters Thesis,
University of Missouri, 1951), p. 110. The Federal Land Bank assisted
most Negro farmers on the brink of dispossession,

*"George A. Griffes, “‘Papers,” Kansas State Historical Society, Topeka,
Kansas, 1938.

*Katz, p. 424.

®George A. Griffes, “Old Town of Nicodemus, the Nicodemus Grove and
Heim's Zoological Collection,” Kansas State Historical Society, Topeka,
Kansas,

%0This phenomenon did not become apparent until the late-1950s, when

_numerous mineral leases were recorded on County Deed Records.

“I'When interviewed, residents were unable to recall any prior structure on
this site from 1900 to 1939. One of the oldest citizens, Clementine
Vaughn, 98 years old, was uncertain, but vaguely remembered an earlier
Masonic Hall that burned down, existing on the site in the 1890s,

¥ Over the years, the building has been maintained and improved. In the
19405 and 1950s, trees were planted to enhance the grounds around the
Township Hall. (The wood floor was well maintained through the indoor
roller skating years.) Mechanical, electrical, and plumbing improvements

__have been made in recent years.

ﬁ Interview with Ora Switzer, p. 10.

Sbid., p. 11,

* Most of the trees that were planted around the Township Hall and park
area have matured and remain healthy today. Recently, young parents
have encouraged their youth to water and care for the existing trees on the
townsite, as a continuation of what Mrs. White initiated. No other formal
efforts were made over the years, until today; individuals voluntarily main-
tain their respective lots.
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7 Interview with Ora Switzer, p. 13.

*Interview with Fredonia Robinson DePriest, by La Barbara Fly,
Nicodemus, Kansas, 22 July 1983. The Blow-In Cale was the only estab-
lishment which served liquor in Nicodemus.

¥ Interview with Gordon Williams, p. 5.

“lbid., p. 4.

bid., p. 5.

“ Interview with Orlo VanDuvall, p. 9.

¥ uStory of Nicodemus,” Hays (Kansas) Daily News, 12 November 1983

¥ 0Ora Wellington Switzer, who ran the Green Lantern Cafe, moved to
Topeka, Kansas temporarily, while her son, Veryl, was attending Kansas
State University, the other restaurants had lost clientele, or closed.

5 |Interview with Alvin Bates, p. 22.

% Muost stone structures, such as the StewartGoins house, Savers Store, and
Masonic Hall, began to show facade deterioration, crumbling, and rotting
of frame members by 1959. Left unattended, they were subject to collapse
in later years.

“TThis is especially true of people who once had large homes in the town-
ship. Since their children maried and moved away, and/or their spouse
had died, there was no need for additional space or maintenance efforts.

8 “Enthusiasm to Rebuild Town is Evident at Nicodemus 93rd Annual
Homecoming,"” Wichita Eagle Beacon, 1980. Although the organization is
headquartered in Los Angeles, California, it is incorporated in the State of
Kansas and is often confused with the unincorporated village of
Nicodemus.

¥ nterview with Irvin and Minerva Sayers, by La Barbara Fly, 14 July 1983
p. 20; interview with Bernice Bates, pp. 19-20.

*OInterview with Lloyd L. Wellington, Nicodemus, Kansas, 8 August 1983,
p. 15.

: “Pastor Bullds Own Church,” Wichita Eagle Beacon, 1975.

Ibid.

3By 1975, the First Baptist Church was the only functioning church in the
town. It has served the town for 75 years Presently, dinners and special
presentations are held in the large hall. Long range plans for the 29-foot
limestone building, now covered with stucco, include major restoration for
use as the village's museum and archives.

“Interview with Alvena and Ordral Alexander, by La Barbara Fly,
Nicodemus, Kansas, 10 August 1983, p. 16; interview with Orlo
VanDuvall, p. 13. When the building was razed by “Lean-to-Len,” Len
Schamber of Damar and Vernon VanDuvall removed the building mar-
quee and built the marker as a gesture. The stone building, from the upper



two floors, was buried in the basement of the Masonic Hall, which was
northwest of the Vaughn place. (The property was transferred to the De-
partment of Community Development and Housing when the playground
was built.)

*“Housing Project in Works, Spirits on Rise in Nicodemus.” Darrell
Morrow, Wichita Eagle Beacon, 28 March 1971. Lee Everett Switzer and
Veryl A. Switzer were among the six planners who conceived the idea of
elderly and low income housing in Nicodemus.

*Interview with Alvena and Ordral Alexander, pp. 16-17.

>"The project was designed by Ralph Keller, architect, and built by Pfeifer
Construction, both of Hill City, Kansas.

8 0Only the adjacent streets were paved in 1976. The remaining streets in
Nicodemus were hard-packed, dirt roads, without curbs and gutters.

*Interview with Lloyd L. Wellington, p. 14.

“lnterview with Emestine VanDuvall, by La Barbara Fly, Nicodemus,
Kansas, 1976, untranscribed. Emestine VanDuvall was an experienced
entrepreneur, having served in California as Walt Disney’s personal cook
and later, having operated a similar restaurant with her husband for ten
years in Pasadena, California. Upon the VanDuvalls' return to Nicodernus
in 1974, Phil, her husband, suffered a fatal heart attack. Mrs. VanDuvall
continued with the establishment of her restaurant, with minimal assist-
ance from local carpenters, such as Virgil Robinson, Jr. Residents patron-
ized her business initially, but the majority of her clientele lived miles away
in neighboring towns and cities. As Kansas residents learned of
Nicodemus, they discovered Ernestine’s home cooking and her success
in Nicodemus, To date, Ernestine’s Bar-B-Que remains the only commer-
cial enterprise in Nicodemus, Kansas,

! Interview with Alvena and Ordral Alexander, pp. 16-17; interview with
Lois Alexander, by La Barbara Fly, Nicodemus, Kansas, 1976,
untranscribed.

% For example, Second Street does not conform absolutely to the grid street
pattern because when Lloyd Wellington's house was moved in by his sis-
ter, Ora Wellington Switzer, it was sited too far to the east. The porch addi-
tions and reorientation of the entrance made it impossible to maintain a
straight center line on Second Street when it was paved.

“Interview with Mary Gage, p. 22.

**Those on the Nicodemus water system include: the First Baptist Church
and parsonage (Reverend Helm), Switzer, Alexander, Bates, Sayers,
Napue, and Redd.

Interview with Alvena and Ordral Alexander, p. 16.

*®After R. B. Scruggs's death, his second wife, Ollie B. Scruggs, sold the

property to the King family, who sold il to James and Marilyn Thyfault of
Damar, Kansas,

7 Built in 1909 with the assistance of Jerry Scruggs, this structure was con-
sidered one of the finest residences in Nicodemus. In 1982, this unoccu-
pled home was in a poor condition, when Virgil Robinson, Sr. began con-
struction of his residence.

**Nicodemus is symbolic of the pioneer spirit of blacks who dared to leave
the only region in this country they had known, in a search for personal
freedom and an opportunity for sell-advancerment.




APPENDIX

List of Drawings:

Settlement in Nicodemus Township, Landowners, 18801900
Settlement in Nicodemus Township, Landowners, 1920
Settlement in Nicodemus Township, Landowners, 1983

Nicodemus Cemetery, Plan and Roster
Mt. Olive Cemetery, Plan and Roster

The First Baptist Church, Site Plan

The First Baptist Church, North Elevation
The First Baptist Church, South Elevation
The First Baptist Church, East Elevation
The First Baptist Church, West Elevation
The First Baptist Church, Floor Plan

The First Baptist Church, Section

The First Baptist Church, Section

District No. 1 School, Site Plan
District No. 1 School, Elevations
District No. 1 School, Plan and Section

The Fletcher-Switzer Site, Site Plan, 1880

The Fletcher-Switzer Site, Site Plan, 1930

The Fletcher-Switzer Site, Site Plan, 1983

The Fletcher Switzer House, North and South Elevations
The Fletcher-Switzer House, East and West Elevations
The Fletcher-Switzer House, First Floor Plan

The Fletcher-Switzer House, Second Floor Plan

The Henry Williams Farm, Site Plan
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